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FTELD INVESTIGATTONS

Jefferson to Justison Block

No archaeological excavation work was undertaken on this c¢ity block, as
enormous piles of sand and gravel would have had to be removed. These materials
are apparently part of the approach ramp for the proposed Wilmington Boulevard.

A pedestrian survey was conducted within the confines of the Right of Way.
This investigation revealed tracecs of brick rubble, but no artifactis were collec-
ted in this area. DOT photographs from 1975 show a very large building of un-
Imown history, which has since been demolighed.
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Justiison to Washingion Block

Archaeclogical investigations were concentrated on the lower half of the
Justison/Washington block. This area is bounded by Lafayette Street to the
north and Front Street to the south. Many features were clearly visible from
the gurface. This block had previously been subjected to extensive pothunting
activities. Numerous areas were disturbed by bottle hunters, and severzl of
the privies had been dug and backfilled by the relic collectors. Cellar cn-
trances could be descerned in the extant sidewalks.

A base line was laid out along the southern edge (curn line, of latuyette
Btreet. Zerc point was at the curb edge of Washington Street, and the line pro-
ceeded 170 feet to the corner curb of Justison 3treet. Artifactual suritace
scatter wag collected and provenienced. This included 28 fragments of ceramic,
86 fragments of bottle glass, 4 fragments of windowpanes, a nail, and 4 bones.
Visible features were mapped.

Despite the disturbed nature of several of the features, it was felt that
valuable information concerning the materizl culture of the inhabitants, con-
struction techniques, and the temporal framework of the historic resources could
be recovered through cxcavation of such disturbed features.

The firgt arca teszted, designated *eature 1, was a collcector caused dis-
turbance. 4 two by five foot test unit was placed over this disturbance, aligned
alonz a north-gouth axis (see Fig. I11~2). A stonc and brick structural wall was
uncovered, which ran east-west. Tnis apparently was a foundation wall of basc-
ment depth. All artifacts recovered (21 ceramic and 17 bottle glass) in this
unit were of a late nineteenth century to twentieth century date. This feature
appzars 1o be the back wall of the first building on Washington Street, going
north beyond the corner structure,

Feature 2 wag a large, deep excavation placed on the rear sgouthwest corner
of a lot on the corner of Lafayette and Washingtons Streets. This was also an
area of collector disturbances. The cxecavation disclosed a deep modern cinderx
block wall, filled in with reccent twentieth century trash, such as hub caps,
rubber boots, cans, ete. (see Fig. III-1).

Feature 3 was a barrel privy, also dug by the collectors. The privy had
been dug to 103 inches in depth, where the carly inhabitants encountered bedrock
or a very large granite boulder {see Fig. ITI-3).

The privy wae constructed of two and one-half barrels. The top-most barrel
was cut off to be flush with the surface, and the botiom was cut with an zx to fit
around the rock. The lowest barrel was in a good state of preservation and con-
gisted of 28 wood staves, mecasuring three and one-half feet long and one-half inch
wide, The end diameters of the barrel were 36 inches and the middle was 42 inches
in diamctcr. The upper barrels, not as well preserved, coatained 32 staves each.

The privy had bceun lootecd down to six feet. This was quickly removed, along
with the moderm trash used for fill. The undisturbed depo sit was carefully ex-
amined, The majority of materials were kitchen related ( Fig. III’E) The Yea-
ture alsc contained many fragments of glass chimneys and chades {(12% of the assem—
blage). One entire small, though broken, oil lamp was recovered along with numerous
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kaolin smoking pipes (8.6% of assemblage). The organic matter was extensive,
including many seeds. The blue shell pearlware and slipware indicatcd a mid-
nineteenth century date (Fig. ITI-3 ). Feature 3 belonged to the house ori-
ginally gtanding on the south side of Lafayette Street in the first lot going
west.

Feature 4 was another area of disturbance, which had been dug by the collec-
tors. The privy was excavated to determine if any difference could be discovered
between housc units. 1t was hoped that the looting was limited. (Fig. III-4)

Thig feature was again a barrel-lined privy of approximately three feet in
diameter. At four feet, the unit becamc very wet and odorous, but the excava-
tioa continued to 96 inches where a 50 gallon steel drum was encountered. The
Teature became dangerocus. Because of the possibility of a cave-in, the privy
excavation was abandoned, drawn, photographed and then backfilled. The time
range for this feature was between 1890 - 1915 using datable bottles and ceramics.
The distribution of the artifacts 1s similar to that in Feature 3 (Fig. ITII-8 ).

Fegture 5 also was an area disturbed by collectors. 7This area was exposed
and found to be a privy with the barrel slats still in situ. The privy was dis-—
turbed to a depth of four feet eight inches. The siratum beneath the disturbance
was quite dry and contained a "erumbly like" f£i1l, which was probably dry human
fecal matter. The privy, of four barrels(Fig.11I1-5), extended dovm to 103 inches.
The feature's contents were carefully troweled through, in order to recover all
artifaztual remains. Over 1,600 artifacts were recovered from Feature 5. [The
artifact range appears to be between 1840 ~ 18900. Kitchen related materials pre-
dominate, with a high percentage of bottle and cther glassware. Feature 5 also
contains a large amouni of bone material in comparison o the other features in
this block. Swine and cattle are predominate, although fish, fowl, and several
mmall mammals are also in evidence. The reasorl for these anomalies in glassware
and bone is uncertain but suggestive of a specialized behavioral complex, such
ags a tavern or a diner.

Feature 6 (Fig I1I-8) was again a disturbed area looted by the collectors.
The feature was one barrel. Tne bottom of this feature was 56 inches from the
surface. The lower end of the barrel was approximately 30 inches in dismeter,
with a terminal wooden hoop about one inch wide by one-fourth inch thick. This
rested on a bed of pebbles mixed with clay. The harrel was irregularly shaped
at approximately 30 inches from the bottom. Above this was a layer of disturbed
clay and building rubble. The time range on the contents of this feature is un-
certain. The entire area was littered with artifacts. There was no way of
telling if this feature had the coantents of an adjacent feature or general his-—
toric surface litter. All materials were collected. Over 1,300 artifacts were
recovered from this feature. As with Feature 5, kitchen materials predominate.
%eramic items however are¢ the more numerous, and only 17 bones were recovered
Fig. I1I-8).

Feature 7 (Fig.lII-7, X-section) is located near Lafayette Street, This
feature was totally looted by collectors to a depth of eight feet. The feature
consisted of a barrel lined privy, onc large harrel, 40 inches in diameter,
resting on one side of a much smaller barrel, 28 inches in dismeter. The top of
the upper barrel was complete, nine to twelve inches below the present ground

surface.
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The artifacts in this unit were guite mixed, ranging across the entire
nincteenth century. The feature was extremely wet and difficult to excavate, due
to the cinder blocks and other large debris. The pit contents were troweled throuch,
but again therc is no guarantee whether the coatents represents this feature or
geveral features. 2,071 artifacts were recovered. Again, as with Features 5
and 6, kitchen materials predominate in the privy, ceramics forming the highest
portion of this group. Eleven bones were recovered (Fig.III—S).

The artifactual materials recovered from this series of privies contain a
variety of formg and functional types. The structuring of this data, utilizing
the 42 classes and eight functional groups developed by Stanley South (1977),
provides a ready format for analysis. A comparison of ihe features of this block
(FigIlI—S) shows remarkable similarities between Features 3% and 4, and between
Featurez 5, 6, and 7. Again, the significance of such clustering is uncertsain.
However, it is suggested that the temporality of use of the structures coupled
with the nature of ithe inhabitants may be reflected here.

One feature was dug out by the collectors in cach house lot. There is pro-
bably at least one more privy, and more likely two more, remaining undvg. The
backs of the house lots have a minimum of nine inches of overburden protecting
thege backyard features from being truncated. Achaeologically, the arca north
of lafayette Strect appears to be in a2 similar condition.
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PLATE lIF1 PRIVY FEATURES 3, 4,5 & 6
JUSTISON - WASHINGTON BLOCK
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Feature 2 Feature-3 TFeature 4 Feature 5 Feature 6 Feature 7

# x { z i A i A i Z i 4
Kitchen Group: 207 96.4 237 63.8 136 66.3 1290 80.0 1182 86.2 1685 81.2
ceramics 156 162 37 385 813
bhottles 117 74 75 487 248 lggg
tumblers 5 62 41 115
glassware 19 24 356 78 63
tableware 1 1 2
Bone/shell 4/2 3/6 8/9 247720 17/3 1178
Architecture Group: 10 3.2 47 12.7 39 19.0 254 15.7 126 9.2 306 14.7
nails 4 1 2 26 8 6
const. hardware 3 1 8 67 10 14

46 12.4 30 14.6 46 2.8 51 3.7 60 2.9

Furniture Group:

Arms Group: 1 0.2
musket ball, shot 1
Clothing Group: 2 0.5 2 0.1 1 0.1 10 0.5
buttons 2 2 1 10
Personal Croup: 2 0.5 4 0.2 3 0.2
coins 1 3
personal items - 2 3
Tobacco Pipes: 1 0.3 32 B.6 16 1.0 8 0.6 8 0.4
Activities Group: 4 1.0 1 0.1 2 0.1
toys 3 1 2
other 1
Misc. _
leather 1 1 2 21 6 5
wood 1 64 8 6
rubber 7
Figure: ITI-8 ARTIFACT CLASSIFICATION {after South 1977) JUSTISON —~ WASHINGTON BLOCK
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Feat. Feat. Feat. Feat. Feat. Feat.

TYPE: 2 3 4 5 6 7

Redware: 10 17 3 79 151 17
Steoneware: 7 9 45 68 74
Delift: 1 2
Porcelain: 9 2 9 35 33 36
Whiteware: 129 96 22 203 192 490
Peariware: 6 1 1 297 363
Misc. 1 32 2 21 72 43
Total: 156 162 37 385 813 1085

Figure: TIII-9 CERAMIC TYPES CLASSIFICATION - Justison - Washingten Block
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PLATE -2 KITCHEN GROUP
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PLATE |1]-4

PERSONAL ITEMS
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PLATEIII-5 CLOTHING GROUP
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Washinston to West Bloek

Beginning at the corner of West and Front Streets and proceeding wecst,
the land slopes graduzlly toward the Christiana River. The lower portion of
the Washington Street to West Street block along Front Stireet had the heaviest
development, including stores, saloons, and light industry and support systems
such as blacksmiths. The entire block has been leveled in recent years, and
was owned by the City of Wilmington until DOT purchased it. Recently the city
has built & fire house facing West Street on the northera half of the block,
and has landscaped the area up to the DOT right-of-way line.

The archaeclogical investigations were not conducted on this tract within
or outside of the right-of-way. The demclition was identical tc the next block
west of this block. The landfill consists of the original building debrig, in-
cluding granite foundation, stone, brick, and concrete. The old cellar entrances
along Front 3treet still are visible. The parting walls are still standing
directly beneath the surface and the backyard features should be intact. This
area should be pristine in the archaeological sub-surface finds. The documern-
tation on this city block would certainly reveal the development of the land uti-
lization starting about the time of the Revolutionary War, up to, and shortly

after, 1800.

The deposits in the backyard are temporally stratified on the next block
weegt and should be the same on this block.
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West to Tatnall Bloock

The southern half of this block has been totally leveled. The lot on the
northwest had a service station, with a building sitting back 4% feet from the
sidewalk. The station has been remcved and the buried gas tanks have apparent-
1y been dug up. All of the asphalt parking and driveway surfaccs have also been
removed.

The MAAR staff undertook to find some remnants of the corner structure
(which was knowrl to have been a coal yard). Excavation procecded in the rubble
arca at the inside corner of the sidewalks at the intersection of Tatnall and
Front Streets (Test Trench 1). The staff encountered a granite wall highly dis-
turbed from the scrvice station construction (FigIII-lU). This shallow stone
wall suggests a cellarless structure. The wall probably represents the founda-
tion for the one story blacksmith building, as shown on the Sanborn Map of 1884.
18 artifacts were recovered from this unit: 3 redware fragments, 11 fragments
of glags, 2 nails, 1 metal scrap, and 1 piece of glate.

Potential archaeological resources in this tract include several relatively
undisturbed house sites with related features, and a series of blacksmith opera-
tions of the nineteenth century. The lotg designated 309, 311, and 313 Front
Street, which are part of the machine shop/blackemith complex, also should be
relatively undisturbed.

The archaeological investigations on the West and Tatnall Streets corner
(Parcel 75, 76, 77) were conducted to find the remains of walls, in order to
assess the damage inflicted on the archaeclogical remains. A well constructed
granite wall was uncovered in Test Unit 2, extending dovm teo 3.25 feet below
the current sidewalk. This wall is a portion of an extant cellar hole which
was filled with a heavy clean yellow-orange clay. It would appear that this
building was leveled and rebuilt in ihe late nineteenth or early twentieth cen-
tury, raising the wall elevation or ground surface two feet. The original street
level window was filled in during the renovation (see Fig. 1II-13 and ILI-14).

Parcel T4 was not tested.

On Parcel 73 (112 ~ 114 West Street) a two-story brick structure was ex-—
tant. This building dees not contain a cellar, and the function of the enter-
prise is unknown. No tests were conducted on the parcel.

Parcel 71 currently has an automatic car wash and parking lot extending to
a diner on Second Street. This large area originally had the support buildings
of ¢. Miller's Hotel, which was located at the corner of Second and Tatnall
Streets. These support facilities included livery stablez of one and one half
stories which covered a good poriion of the north half of the whole block. Al-
though this area should reveal a number of archaeclogical features, limitations
of time and money prevented testing of this parcel.

Parcel 8l contains a one story diner and a three story apartment house with
a store on the first floor. This was originally the Miller Hotel, which was
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constructed prior to 1868, No tests were conducted on this parcel.
Parcel 80, located on Tatnall Street, was owned by Purnell Trucking Co.

and Komar Iron Works. Several garsges of half block length were still extant.
Formerly there were four small residences. No tests were conducted.
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PLATE I11-6
WEST-TATNALL BLOCK  TEST TRENCH 1
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Tatnull to Orange Block

The first building to be discussed on the Tatnall to Orange Street Block
was formerly owned by Diamond Printing Company on the northwest corner of Orange
and Front Streets, 201 Front Street. The structure is currently a brick-faced
square two story building with a flat roof. This large building apparently was
recongtructed on an early house site. We were unable to see this foundation
other than a photo taken by the DOT (No. 450-30 8/15/79) which shows brick support
for the flooring Joists. The picture also reveals a clay floor und a barrel
lined privy, Tilled to within a few inches of the top with 1ubble. No work was
executed on this feature or on this corner.

The structure at 211 Front Street has been demolished. The demolition
alsc included the house lot at 213 Front Stret. This leveling process seems to
be another cace of shoving the walls into the cellar holes. The lot is now co-
vered with asphalt. The rear portion of the lot has a modern block storage buil-
ding on it. The backyard features may have been destroyed by the warehouse con-
struction. The foundation wall may remain, but that is unknown. No subsurface
testing was conducted on this property.

The scars on the Capt. Milner house, 209 Front Street, show that a three
gtory building stocd with a common parting wall. The Sanborn Map Co. shows that
a two story building stood in this location. There iz a considerable difference
in the plaster color when reviewed in the shadow. It may be that this three
story building was renovated in the late nineteenth century and had a flat roof.
Or the problem may lie in the map and the lower first and second floor walls were
replastered. The structure, according to the Sanborn Map Co. 1884, served as a
store.

The next lot studied is at 213 Front Street, cor Parcel 137, on the DOT map.
The lot is now covered with asphalt. This may have preserved the house and the
area where a well may be encountered. No work has been done archaeclogically to
determine the thoroughness of the demolition. Normally the side and back lots
are not affected, especlally since most of these lots are stratified from buil-
ding sequences.

The 215 Front Street lot has a whitc wall in front of it. This property is
Parcel 136, and was originally owned by Diamond Printing Company prior to the DOT
purchase. The original building was shown as a three story unit and a cne story
and then a two story livery stable behind. HNo sub-surface testing was conducted.

The corner properly of Tatnall and Front Streets is part of Parcel 136 und
the addregs was 100 Tatnall Street for this one story structure. The Sanborn
Map Co, 1884 shows this as an office with a store to the east on Front Street
and a one story livery stable to the north at 101 Tatnall Street

The current physical condition of the lot is that of a demolished structure.
The ground, like the lot on Pront Street, is rubble covered, primarily brick,
grease and grease drums. The demollition seems to be the same from the Berger
Bros. property west to the cormer of Tatrnall and Front Streets. The below ground
features, especially in the backyards, should be intact. This area again was not
studied, I11-27



At 216 Second Sireet there still stands a three story building with a two
story addition to the rear. This house and lot are Parcel 135. From the physi-
cal appearance, an early mid nineteenth century construction is suggested, unless
the building ocutline has been modified from an eighteenth century building. The
plan view suggests that, as seen on the Baist Atlas map of 1887 and 1884 Map of
Sanborn.

Thig area behind 214 -~ 210 Second Street is now an open area having a con-
crete glab on it. This area is & good, protected, unlooted area which is only
accesgible through the hole in the back preperty wall of Grubb Lumber. This area
would yield information on blacksmith and wheelwright backyard funtions.

The buildings at 208, 206, and 204 Second Street appear to be eighteenth
century structures modified into three sgtory buvildings. The plan views of thege
structures have remained unchanged gince the eighteenth century, except with the
normal additions in the eighteenth century style. The chimneys have been removed.
The backyard of the house lot may be undisturbed.

The next area has a very large warehouse listed as Parcel 134, owned by
Berger Breogo. Inc. The street numbers are 210 - 212 and 214 Tatnall Street. The
Sanborn Map Co. of 1884 shows a large three and one-half story building (same
as today)} and the Baist Atlas of 1887 shows what was originally there — three
elongated structures owned by David Woolman, with three and two additions added
on the back, See maps for clarification. The latter 1887 map shows valuable
archaeclogical functional areas originally under a shed in 1884, i.e. a black—
amith and a wheelwright. The large area is apparently connected with structures
of the ssme function on 115, 113, and 111 Orange S3treet to the rear of the strue-
tures. All of ithe buildings have backyards and are still open and probably un-
looted. The Parcel Numbers are 133, 132. and 131. Ownership not available from
the existing DOT maps. Two of the buildings were stores and 204 was again a
saloon.

The corner building at Second and Orange Streets has two entrances and is
shown to be 200 and 202 Second Street on the historic maps. This is Parcel 130,
The buildings is shown to be a three story building with a parting wall. The
current building has had major renovation, but still remains as two stories. The
structure wasz not investigated.

The parcels 143, 144, 145, and 146, are all recent twentieth century struc-
tures, replacing the earlier two and three story row homes. The backyard of these
buildings had conerete slabs placed in thew and may have protected the backyard
privies or cisterns. Parcel 144 is a good example, according to Diamond Printing
Company employees, during construction of this building they encountered what
they called a wall right against the back parting wall adjoining the shed area
of Grubb Lumber Company. This was not dug intoc but Jjust sealed with concrete
so that features remain apparently undamaged. It would reguire the 3 - 5 inches
of concrete to be removed. This feature would be in the backyard of 103 - 107
Orange Street, a large three story structure according to the Sanborm Map Co. 1884.

No subsurface testing was undertaken on this group of buldings or lots.
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The next group of buildings examined is lmown as ihe Grubb Lumber Company
and is located at 203 - 209 Front Street. The company offices were contained in
203 Front, while workshops and storage areas occupied the ramaining buildings.
Archaeclogical and architectural examination of this structural complex suggests
a nineteenth century date. On the first floor of 203 Front Street was preserved
the original pressed iin decorated ceiling. The foundations was constructed of
small pieces of banded gneiss rather than larger well chosen rock, and the mortar
had some portland cement in it. The flooring in this structure is a slab of con-
crete extending from front to back. It lacked a cellar. There is a first floor
high passage way with the foundation wall showing on either side. This passage
had a second one bullt over it, apparently to assist traffic flow within the
lumber complex.

At the rear of the lot was located, according to the documentation, a two
story livery stable. The back wall of this structure is intact and has narrow
slits or windows still in it. The one story siructure to the side of this struc-
ture has been removed and replaced with modern shedding.

Architectural investigations of 207 Front Street, Parcel 140, indicated a mid
1o late nineteenth century date for construction. These investigations revealed
a nineteenth century foundation wall. Also revealed was a small chimney base of
the style used for potbelly stoves. A wall scar shows a flue system for a pipe
insert on the first floor level. The chimney base was laid on the original clay
sub-goil, indicating the lack of a cellar under the major structure. It is pro-
bable that this structure never served as a residence on the first foor, but rather
the second floor served this function.

The house at 209 Front Street was thoroughly documented by MAAR persomnel
(see page 11-24). The architecture of this three story building is remarkably pre-
gerved on the second and third floors,although the attic sustained severe fire

damage.

In the dormer window on the north side of the house is inseribed "17390" and
several initials. This inscription had been sealed by another piece of wood until
recently. The lathing is all hand split and nailed with rose headed nails. The
wood beams are pegged and/or joined with hand wrought spikes., The plaster is
filled with horse hair as a binding agent. The window and doors that are showing
are pegged together and hand rails and chair rails are, or were, still surviving
until very recently.

Archaeclogical investigation within the Grubb Lumber complex were extensive.
The area is highly stratified with various fills of both domestic and manufacturing
sources. 18 test unitis were excavated within this complex.

Test Unit 1 was excavated in the northeast corner of the Grubb Luwber building,
where a shallow depression suggested the presence of a well/privy structure. The
examination of the sub-surface evidence made this explamation somewhat untenable
Excavation revealed walling to the north. This feature(Filg ITI-17)consisted of
a band of brick, three bricks wide - two bricks deep, mortared tc a stone foun~
dation. The foundation was constructed of alternating "layers" of large field-
stones and smaller cut stones, mortared together with a tan/yellow clay. It is
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thought that this wall is representative of the cellar wall/Toundation of an
earlier structure. Tae posthole in the bottom of the unit showed rubble £ill in

excess of five feet.

Test Unit 2 is located along the south foundation of the structure indicated
by Test Unit 1. Excavations alcng this wall failed 1o reveal any evidence for a
builder's trench. A complex series of fills were noted (FigIII—19 and 20) and
sterile sub-soil was reached, by means of a posthole test, at 50 inches below
surface.

Test Units 5, 7, and 9 provided similar data for an adjacent structure.
Artifactual materials recovered from these units date between 1840 ~ 1860, indi-
cating a late eighteenth/early nineteenth century date for the structural founda-~
tions.

On the scuth side of the foundations, revealed by Test Units 2 and 7, several
additional test units were excavated. Test Units 6, 8, 12, and 13, were exca-
vated in the present courtyard. Bencath the layer of concrete, a disturbed
cobbleyard/walk was recvealed in Test Unit 6. The pavement may correspond to the
blacksmith shop on the Pomeroy and Bears map of 1868. The disturbance was exa-
mined and complex stratigraphy (Fig II1I-26)similar to that of Test Unit 2 discerned.
Test Unit 12, a posthole, confirmed that this layering extendes under the undis-
turbed cobbles. Test Unit 8, opened contiguous to Test Unit 6, showed a more ex-
tengive area of disturbance. A woodlined circular pit (Test Unit 13) was excavated
but failed to supply sufficient artifactual materials to enable the assignation
of a date to the struc.ure or clarify its function. The remaining portion of
Test Unit 8 failed to provide either a builder's trench to the structural found-
ation or evidence of temporality.

Purther to the west, along the same structural foundations, Test Units 10,
11, and 18 were excavated. These excavations revealed a water tight granite mor-
tared sub-surface feature of which only a portion was excavated. It appears to
correspond to the small rectangel on the Baist Map of 1887. This feature con-
tzined horse manure and artvifacts (Fig I11-27).The Sanborn Wap shows a dotted one
story unit over this pavement which may indicate a temporary pole shed.

Test Unit 3 was opened near the west wall of the present building at the
location where the north or rear cross wall of the original eighteenth century
structure would be expected. The remains of such a structural foundation were
found beneath the floor boards of the present building (FigIIT-23).The wall con-—
struction was of heavy pneiss or granite boulders, mortared in place with sand

-mortar and had no portland cement mixed in. The addition added to the rear and
tied intoc the basement had small gquantities of portland cement mixed in. The
focting was examined on the original eighteenth century portion and a shallow
narrow builder's trench was located filled mostly with brick rubble. (The three
story building had a brick or granite foundation). A series of fills was noted
in what was apparently the cellar, the north profile revealed the remains of an
entrence (Fig TII-21)

The cellar work was halted because of harzardous conditicons. The cellar had
been filled to within twc to threc feet of the flooring by sawdust, brick and
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wood rubble. The cellar floor was clay with a lime-like wash with coal ashes
pressed into it.

Test Unit 4 was copened some 30 feet north of Test Unit 3. This unit (Fig.
111- 24) revealed a section of a brick walkway beneath the twentieth century
wooden flooring. The area had heen heavily disturbed however by the later con-
gstruction, and neither the function nor destination of the bricks could be dis-
cerned with any degree of certainty.

Test Unit 14 was excavated in the northwest corner of the Grubb Lumber pro-
perty. 1t revealed the remains of & stone lined circular cistern and associated
architectural features {FigIII-28). The cistern was capped with clay. The stones
that comprise the walls of this feature are laid in clay and have an orange sand
nortar beiween them. The bottom of the feature, comprised of red/orange clay,
is 2.3 feet below the top course of stone and roughly three feet below the modern
concrete gurface.

The interior of the feature had been subjected o extensive burning and only
half was excavated. The artifacts are from mid nineteenth century, including a
restoreable salt glazed stoneware crock. This group of artifacts was distributed
from the west gide of the feature in a thin lens. The rest of the feature was
filled at a later date, probably in the last quarter of the nineteenth century,
but more than likely in the iwentieth centure.

A portion of the asphalt pavement was excavated revealing a cobble gtone
pavement. There are two gqualities of cobble stones laid down. One is quite an—
gular and the other ig the smooth side up siyle. This change may indicate areas
of different function.

Test Unit 1% was excavated beneath the building east of the courtyard. As
with Test Unit 4, a brick path was uncovered, destinations unkmown (Fig IIT-29)
In addition, a brick parting wall was excavated in the southwest corner of Area 1.
The function of this feature and its articulation with the present or previous
structure is unknown.

Excavations in Grubb Lumber Co. revealed a complex, stratified site architec-
turally, with very little disturbance. All of the lumber sheds are set on brick
and concrete supports extending into the sub-soil. Privies probably one for each
generation, should yield much house data. The well system was not located during
cur field work but should exist. The predicted location is just to the rear of
the original house along the east property line.

The artifactual remains from Grubb ILumber Co. daste from the middle of the
eighteenth century to the present. The extensive excavation of the area would
not only allow the illustration of the changing architectural fabric and function
of this block, but also permit behavioral inferences to be sought through the
study of these changee as they affect the material culture and livelihcod of the
inhabitants.
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Kitchen Group: 2098

ceramics 776
bottles 1151
tumblers 45
glassware 126
tableware

Bones/shell 114/92

Architecture Group 324

window glass 125
nails 89
spikes

const. hardware 11G
door parts

Furniture Group:

Arms Group:

Clothing Group:

Personal Group: 1
Tobacco Pipes: 10

Activities Group:

Misc.
Wood 18
Leather 7
Stone 9

Figure: III-32 ARTYFACT CLASSIFICATION (after South 1977) -~ Grubb Lumber
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TYPE: # of sherds

Redware 373
Stoneware: 63
Delft: 1
Porcelain: 31

Whiteware: 267

Creamware: 6
Pearlware: 22
Misc. 13
Total 776

Figure: 1EI-33 CERAMIC TYPES CLASSIF¥ICATION- Grubb Lumber
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Oranygze and Shipley Block

The physicel description and archaeological value of this block beging with
the empty lot west of the Sunday Breakfast Micsion. This property, as all of
the adjacent structures and lots, are owned by Sunday Breakfast Mission. The
area s known as Parcel No, 178 on the IXT Map. The area is now covered with
an agphalt and stone covering and has been looted. No testing was performed in
this arca.

The Sunday Breakfast Mission structure may originally have been a three
story eighteenth century ctructure with a side lot and a one story out-bullding
adjacent to the west gide of the gstables. This structure was then incorporated
into a large, long structure and a flattening of ihe roof occcurred at the scome
time and was Jjoined by stucco over the corner property. A change can also be
noted in the window location on the current building. (Sce DOT photograph # 35).
Observe the three then two window grouping and the location of the door on the
east side of the supposed parting wall. It is not known when these renovations
cccurred. The cellars and cellar wall constructions have not been examined, as
the buildings were still occupied by the Sunday Breakfasti Migssion and its staff.

A1l of the buildings of the Sunday Breakfacst Mission to Second Street have
been demeclished. No sub-surface testing was undertaken in this area.

The scar on the side of the next house, 106 Seccond Street, shows evidence
on three stories,of actual interior plaster on the chimney and the parting wall.
Two different bulldings were placed on this site and the midcéle pericd struc-
ture was a three story building, which indicates that the current building is of
the twentieth century

The next group of structures on Second Street is known as Parcel Nes., 178,
354, 353, 175, 174, 352, and 351, and are all owned by the Sunday Breakfast Missiorn.
The I'irst three of the group were three story buildings which are still standing.
The last four were two story structures. The lot of Parcel No. 174 had a three
story bullding as indicated by the plaster scars on adjacent buildings. The
entire group functioned ag stores with residences above. The last four parcels,
351, 3%2, 174, and 175, had two story buildings with a third floor added. The
backyards of the buildings s1ill occupicd appear to be intact. No. 115 Shipley
Street, the oldest housc on the block (Rev. Baxter, pers. comm. ), was a two
story structure with a pitched roof. Adjacent buildings were three stories high
and had heen modified somewhat.

The next group of buildings (111, 119 107, 105, 103, and 101 Shipley Street)
are still standing. (Parcel Nos. %48 and 178 on the DOT map).

111 Shipley Sireet has had the entire upper and lower rcooms altered; 109 and
107 have suffered similar fates, 105 Shipley i1s in a high stiate of decay, but
there were fireplaces in every room with little alteraticn t¢ the original frame-
work and construction. 103 3Shipley Street was in a high state of decay and had
been renovated. The store used by Sunday Breakfast Mission was not observed by
the Froject Director on the upper [loors.

The archaeological value of this group of buildings is quite high in that
unusual sub-surlace, i.e. foundation walls, have unigue charscteristics. The
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cellar parting wall between 111 and 109 Shipley Street has an unusual row of
5i1x granite and brick arches, with a bricked-in brezk in the wall of about four
feet wide, to allow passage from one cellar to the other. (See DOT photograph

450-85, 8/10/719).

A suggested interpretation of this group of buildings from a construction
sequence viewpoint could be as follows: these bulldings were originally con-
structed in the eighteenth century. During reconstruction in the nineteenth
century, the parting wall between 111 and 109 Shipley Street was partly knocked
dovn to about cne foot to two feet above cellar floor level (see same DOT photo-
graph 450-26, 8/10/79) at which time the brick was used for construction. The
walls were widened at this time to four feet in thickness. The re-used granite
wa: used in the widening of the wall and in the areas between the arches up to
about four and one half feet in height, and the foundation wall was finished in
brick up to the first floor. The arches were enclosed on one end only with
alternating openings. The front wall of 111 Shipley Ztreet is a granitc wall
higher on one side than the other, and the cellar stairway once had wooden steps.
This may have been robbed of the original stone steps during the nineteenth cen-
tury renovation. The back of house had an addition of two stories and an addi-
tional portion of the backyard which has a brick patio pavement.

The next building, 109 Shipley Street, is a long structure constructed in
the nineteenth century, possibly on an older foundation. Certainly the additions
in the rear of the building are nineteenth century. The entire building is three
story, except for the small cne story addition at the rear of the lot. The buil-
ding, bocth the oldest and newest sections, are in bad stztes of repair. The oral
history which was furnished by Rev. Baxter {personal communication) indicates that
this building was a pickle packing company. A& number of areas in the cellar have
green stains of some chemical nature on them. It may be possible to test these
stains and see if pickle storage and processing has changed through time.

No looting was observed in any of the rooms of this structure. One intact
feature, probably a privy, lies within the brick and concrete block one story
addition. This feature lies in the southwest corner and was disclosed by a de-
pression in the patio brick pavement in the area. One brick was removed and
probing indicated numerous materials in it.

Structure 107 Shipley Street consists of the oldest building, or at least,
the least renovated siructurally. The buildings originally had fireplaces which
are still extant. The split lathing and the early nails are also still in
place. The building is beyond repair. The second floor has fallen down 1o the
first. The flooring in this building is brick. There is a possibility of
privies and/or wells remaining undisturbed. As this building remained a residence,
it preserves the function and structural members of the site.

10% Shipley Btreet was an historic store until recently, when it was aban-~
doned. The parcel number is 178. listorically, the building has been rencvated
to include new ceilings, and the first floor flooring was lowered to allow de-
livery trucks to come through the front doors. The current flooring was lowered
about 18 inches, making the cellar hard tco move around in. The cellar entrances
from the ocutgide were sealed off in the front and back. The only access was
some ripped up floor boards making 1t difficult to study.
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The cellars werc examined as to age of the walls, and were found to have
gone through extensive rebuilding and repair (see DOT photograph 450-29 and
450-2%, taken 8/10/79). The floors were not probed for walls, although there
gshouald be a high necessity for a source of water nearby.

Both of these buildings, 103 and 101 Shipley Street, served as stores in
the latter part of the nineteenth century. There does exist a narrow alley way
and an open, %tiny backyard area which has a concrete slab on it, which may have
heen an ocutdoor feature such as a privy, but this area was not investigated
archaeologically during the survey, so it remains as an wadisturbed area.
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PLATE lI-12 PRIVY FEATURE 1
ORANGE-SHIPLEY BLOCK
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Test Unit 1

Level A Level B
# of sherds ¥ sherds # of sherds % sherds
Kitchen Group: 204 61.8 1351 53.7
ceramics 135 199
bottles 66 253
tumblers 219
glassware 2 679
tableware 1 1
Bones/shell 106/59 412767
Architecture Group: 123 37.2 1134 45.1
window glass 53 1058
nails 48 30
const. hardware 21 45
Furniture Group 0 ¢
Arms Group: 0 0
Clothing Group: 2 0.6 2 0.1
buttons 2 1
hook/eye fasteners: 1
Personal Group: 1 0.3 5 0.2
coins 1
keys 3
perscnal items 1 1
Tobacco Pipes 0 20 0.8
Activities Group: 0 0
Misc.
Terracotta 7 18
stone 3 5
coal 2 7
leather ' 10
wood 34

Figure: I11-36 ARTIFACT CLASSIFICATION (after South 1977) ORANGE - SHIPLEY BLOCK
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Shipley to Market Block

This narrow block contains the location of the house site of Thomas Willing
who laid out the town of what is now known as Wilmington. The southeasi corner
of Warket and Froni Streeis, listed as 101 Markei Street, was the location of
Tom Willing's house. This structure was torn down and made intc a hotel by
Mr., Taylor and then rebuilt by Eli Sharpe, and was also kmown as the Buck Hotel.

The DOT map lists it as Parcel No. 222, owned prior to the DOT by a Jaccb
A. Jacobs, Demolition of the hotel siructure took place prior to 1975. One
structure is still standing, a stucco one story warehouse. The property was
uged to park oil trucks for Jacob's 0il and to house extra truck tireg and re-
pair eguipment. The leocaition of a pair of gas pumps with their buried tanks
lies to the west of the main hotel site. The destruction of the original buil-
ding and subsequent structures may not have been destroyed by these gas tanks.
(See DOT photograph # 40 for Jacob's Puel 0il) (Plate 25).

Archaeological investigations were limited to one excavation of this parcel
lot. The unit (Test Unit 1) was tied into the curb on Market Street and paral-
leled Front Streeit along the concrete sidewalk edge. The test unit was ten feet
by five feei, with the long axis being on Pront Street.

The unit revealed a thick granite wall with a brick wall butting to it.
The mortar of the granite walls was without any trace of portland cement. The
floor was concrete covered and was not intruded into. The wall is certainly
eighteenth century. The pair of brick walls were an addition for a cellar en-
trance which had wood siteps as evidenced by the stains and the debris, which was
piled up underneath the original wood step location. Bricks were hand made forms,
varying greatly in dimension, especially thickness. The cellar fill had been 99%
brick, mostly of nineteenth century period. Very little wood was encountered,
but some iron pipe was noticed. The fill was very homogenic. Some glass was
recovered (32 fragments bottle glass and 19 fragments window glass), all of it
twentieth century. One large section of a marble topped dresser was found in
four pieces. Other materials include 18 nails, 41 metal fragments, 1 piece of
coal, 2 pieces of leather, 4 pieceg of plastic and 1 piecs of terracotta. The
excavation was backfilled with clean sand and gravel supplied by the DOT after
plastic sheeting was used to cover the walls and excavation limits.

The next house lot is 103 HMarket Street, Parcel No. 223, formerly owned by
dacob S. Jaccbs. This lot was entirely filled from Markei Street to Shipley
gtreet with a four story brick bhuilding, built in the late eighteenth ccntury.
Formerly there existed a three story building. Adjacent to this group of three
story buildings formerly existed (105 Market Street) an earlier three story struc-
ture with the characteristic two sitory and one story additions added to it. This
building wag algo listed as a store. This entire group of buildings of 103 and
105 Market Street were demolished to consiruct the most recent building, which
wag subsequently demolished by fire. The most recent building contruction de-
stroyed the backyard feature area in 105 Market Sireet.
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The next unit is 107 and 109 Market Street, listed asz Parcel No. 224,
formerly owned by Equipment Clearing House, Inc. The historic map shows a five
story wholesale grain building, including an elevator on ihe Market Stireect side.
This is uwnusual - normally the buildings increased in height. This structure
was reconstructed in 1887 (dated by steel girders and dated support posts) and
the current building is now only four stories high.

The cellar in this structure was available for inspection by the Project
Director and others. The walls were of granite and consisted of a sandy mortar
which crumbled to the touch. The stones were large, except for the filler pieces.
The wall constrict is aboutl one foot inward on both sides, with no change in
wall construction, approximately one-third of the way bacx from Market Strcet.
This may correspond to the original party wall which constricts to stay within
the property line further back. The most obvious feature of the cellar is either
end of this block-long building. The Market Street end consists of heavy brick
suppert arches supporting the front of the current building and a granite wall
of the original construction being three to four feet east and under the current
pavement. This gap has cast iron plates with glass filled holes for allowing
light in, but the glass is badly disinitegratcd and now covercd with concrete on
top. The other cnd on the Shipley Street side is again brick arch construction,
but these have since been filled in more recently with brick and concrete. The
Shipley Street end is prebably a carbon copy of the Market Street end, but the
brick arches were later blocked up. The cellar floor is poured concrete and could
yield valuable infermaticn, as for cxample undisturbed wells and privies. The
Shipley Street end has some disturbance by exploded water pipes, and the area of
probing revealed ashes and clay beneath. No further work was done in this cellar.

The next area, 111 Market Street, is also lmown as Parcel Wo. 225 and until
recently was owned by Jacob A. Jacobs. The current building is a one story brick
structure extending from Market to Shipley Strcets. The cellar was quickly in-
gpected and it was noted that granite walls exist under this modern building, and

the floor was clay.

The area behind the original building is covered with a concrete slab and
there may be another building underneath. The back portion is also covered witih
concrete slab.

Structures of the block numbering lots 119, 123, and 129 still have the
eighteenth century roof configuration and structure shape, as indicatcd by
visual inspection from the Market Strcet side and the shape of the building from

the DOT map.

The backyard of these occupied buildings should have preserved features
such as wells and privies,
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I'arket to King Block

Beginning at the southeast cormer of Front and King Streets and moving
westward, the Department of Transportation (DOT)} parcel is No. %1%. The parcel
consists of 17,128 square feet. Demolition for the most part was complete., The
walls of these buildings were knocked down three Teet below surface and land was
filled in. The area is now ':rloping gently to the west toward Milners Alley.

The area was covercd with about three inches of crushed granite basc and covered
with a one inch to one and one-half inch of asphalt. The current use of the area
is for the parking of automobiles and is controlled by King Auto Szles and leased
from DOT.

The sub-surface demoliton of the corner building on 101 King Street was not
complete. The walls appcar to be directly below the asphalt covering and there
is a reasonably sharp line created by as much as 18 inches of settling. At
least two cellar entrances are alsc visible on King Street. The corner building
of King and Front Streets, 101 King Street, has a conerete slab poured onto and
into the cellar entrance depression. In 1975 this was the footing for a tele-
phone booth.

The next area west on Front Street i1s Milners Alley. 1t is 13 feet 7 inches
in width and extends back and behind the group of =mall bulldings or stores along
King Street. Little apparent sub-surface demolition tocok place. It is currently
covered by sand and gravel and weeds underlain by asphalt and crushed stone.

No sub-surface testing was done on this alley.

Another group of eight house lots, also part of Parcel No. 313, faces Front
Street from King Street on the east and heading west up to the four story building
or hotel at the corner of Front and WMarkeit Sireets. The block of houses was de-
molished in the 1960's {(1965).

The existing evidence of these structures is atill visible even after demo-
lition. The cellar heles were Lilled in with structural rubble which included
metal, wocd, plaster, and other perichable materisls. The walls were not lmocked
dowr. as one might expect and the entire area was covered with crushed stone and
esphalt. Sinece the black toppivg, the cellar holes have settled and even the
cellar entrances have ¢ollapsed., The evidence of collapsing cellar heoles led to
additional filling with concrete in some of these holes at a later date; this
filling, too, has collepsed. The cellar entrances are clearly outlined and number
severl. One expected cellar hole entrance was not located at 17 East Front Strcct.
It mey have been sealed in pricr to demclitior or where the enirasnce opens on to
Kilners Alley. The ridges between cellars, in a number of structures, indicated
the parting walls. The backs of the cellars are also visible due to the collap—
ging landfills and asphalt.

Onec sub-surface test was placed in this group of structures. The unil was
placed on a parting wall located 80 feet east of Market Street, between 3 and 5
Fast Market Street. The parting wall was older than and apparently went through
the front wall of the structure that paralleled Front Street. It is suggested
here that the pariing wall that was excavated (Test Unit 1, Fig II11-41) may
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be of the 1736 pericd and subsequerntly was reused when subdivigion of the five
major lots took place prior 1o the 1850¢, This wall would ther line up with the
properties east of Kinpg Street ard ihe granite wall slong Front Sireet west of
Market Sireet, which will be described in the study of that city block.

The corner of Market ard East Front Streets had been standing when MAAR
teams first saw the area which was a four story ho*el. The parcel rumber is 312.
The property consisted of 1,291 square feet. The DOT has prints of the structure
standing, and the MAAR tear photographked the structure during the scheduled de-
molition of the granite cellar walls, The standing structure and i1ts construction
did not match the age of the granite walls and the early moriar in then. It wes
surpiged that the structure was rebuilt uging the ecalsting walls. The originzsl
wall on Market Street should be three to four feet west and just under the cement
pavement. After demwolition, some of the arecas of the wall wcre damsged and we
proted with a posthole digger. Brick rubble was found where a clay sub-surface
phould have beern. Tine limitation prevents further investigation.

Parcels No. 311, 310, 309, and 307 wecre all demolished a2t the same time as
the No. 312 parcel. The structures on the parcels lined the frert of Market
Street on the east side. The corner building had a solid granite rear wall, the
gides and front walls were granite part way up and finished in brick. There was
brick mixed into the granite walls and the mortar fill contained some fragments
of clam shell. There were newer scparations placed in this building, as it hasg
two partirg walls not of the same age as that associated wilh the early construc-
tion. The cecllar had a dirt flcoor and showed signs ol a privy that was located
in the rezr. HNote that a furnace sat on the feature to prevent looting. The
frort wall had brick mixed in with the granite, as well as evidence of land fill
under the sidewalk and to the west of the present wall, suggesting that the ori-
ginal front exists three to four feet to the west. This may correspond to vwhen
the streets were widened bty eight feet in 1740.

The house of 104 Market Street had a sealed basement. Due to a lack of time,
access was never gained.

Structures 108, 110 Market Street, Parcel No. 310, consisted of a large
four story Victorian style building and was demolished during our project invelve-
mert. {(Sce 1975 DOT photograph for structural details). An alleyway, shown on
the Baist Map cf 1887, was still extant on the first floor of the structure.

The basement shows a cellar extending back 90 feet in various widths, and
a cement cellar floor. Any archaeological features in the rear of the house would
have been dcstroyed by this later tullding phase, which extended back to within
ten feet of the back property line.

Structures 112 and 1314, Ynown on the DOT map as Parcel No. 309, werc demo-
liched slong with the previous mentioned structures. 7The cellar was examined
and a complex cellar configuratior was noted. The cemecnt flooring may have pre-
vented any destruction to sub-surface features.

The 116 and 115 Market Street structures were invesiigated and mapped out
by the staff of MAAR (¥ig III-40). The floor was dirt and may have features in

the basement.
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The ctaff exposed granite walls of variovs stages of construction as well
as a brick patic leading to varicus backyard functiors. The brick patio was in
excellert shape. Within the backyard at least one privy was located. It had
been collected bty the bottle collectors. The collectors, unowever, turned over
ithe contents of this feature and gave us a very good picture of the early date
of this feature. The date range of this privy (Feature No. 2} was probably
between 1740 ard 1790, ocur oldest excavated vnii. The backfill was cleaned out
of the feature and wan water screened.

The construction of the privy was made of hogshead barrels, one on top of
the other (Fig IT1-44).5oze materials were still in gitu along the bottom and
sidec of the feature.

The materials recovered from this privy exceceded 1,800 in number. The highest
proportion of these are kitchen related materials, particularly cersmice and
bottle glass (FigIII—46).An unusual amount of musket balls and gurflints were
also recovered. The patterning of functional groups may support the 1740 - 1790
date assigned to this feature. Similar patterning was discerned in mid eighteenth
century privy contexts in Philadelphia (Basalik and McCarihy 1979)}. This study
suggests that the high percentage of kitchen related material decreases through
time, approaching 70 percent by the turn of the nineteenth century.

Ancther feature in this area was a large cistern. The cisterr, Feature 3,
was partially looted by collectors. The physical description orr this large fea-
ture is as follows: & granite base was constructed at a depth of 12.5 feet and
& slightly oval shape of nine feet in diarmcter was okserved. Upon this was a
brick lined wall which incorporated the granite wall to the north and continued
into a brick arch, vaulting the unit completely over. The brick vaulting apparent-
ly took place later after sewerage systems, which were incorporated into the
region, thus sealing the original and secondary function of the unit ( Figure
III-45 }. The original functicn was for water and the second use was a large
privy with the openipg to the north side, as indicated by location of the mater-
iales in the base. The larger heavy materials, incapable of floating, settled in
one spot where the remaining materials, suckh as wood, bone, and ¢ther materials
such as seeds and nuts were distributed throughout. Apparently some historical
clezning of this unit (Feature 2) had taken place because of the concentration of
large and heavy fragments and the lack of body fragments, especially in the wine
bottles and case gin bottles.

To summarize the contentis: porcelain was represcnted by 126 fragment speci-
mens, mostly English in a Chinese imitation, 5 bowls, 3 cups, 1745 - 1795 range
(Plate I1I-17 }. Pearlware of English imitation of Chinese scenecs, i.e. house on
the hill of various types, was represented by approximately 234 fragments of hand-
painted variety, 9 cups, and 1% saucers, and two bowls of staffordshire. The
creamware was heavily reprecented ag one of the dominant kitchen items, indicated
by 551 fragments of which bowls, cups, deep plates, shallow plates, comode and
pitchers are repregented by lighter yellow creamwarce and some darker yellow in
beth Royal pattern and Feather Edge. A total of 12 dishes, 4 platters, 5 cups and
cven some children's dishes are included. Of the tin-enamelled wares, often called
delft, there were only 26 fragments, most of which were of a decorated style
called Type 49, with a median date of 1750. The ctonewares totaled about 95 frag-
ments, with the dominant being ore reconstructed white salt glazed chamber pot.
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The next dominant being the barley patterned plate having a rarge from 1740 1o
1775, with a mean date of 1758, Large guantities of redware, including storage
vegsels, chamber pots, pie plates, werc recovered. The pie plates were mostly
trail glazed slipware (47 fragments) and tortoise shellware was also represented
by 69 fragments. Two engine turned red vesscls were represented, one which was
reconstructed and another one by only twe =small fragments.

The glassware included many gin case bottles and several hundred fragments
of sguat rum bottles, beautiful hand engraved glasses or tumblers, a number of
stermed wine glasses, apothecary vessels (hand blown), snuff or blacking botiles,
demijohn bottles, and window glase were also present as well as two glass marbles.

Hletallic materiais were represented by lead balls, orne small cannon ball,
many nails, brass drawer pulls, variouvs decorative gold gilt ornaments, and
thimbles. HNore of these perichable materials have been stabilized cor preserved.

Two gun flinte were found in the water screening process, which givesz a
complete inventory of gun-like materials except the actual side plate or gun
barrels which we had hoped to find. The materials of the gun flints were ore
English and one French style., The gun flints were not analyzed to find whether
they functioned in a rifle or a pistol.

The idertified bones recovered included cow, sheep, goat, chicken, fish and
turtle. These materials have not beer processed or identified as to age or spe-
cies. This is a wvaluable collection of data snd should not be overlooked. A
number of beone buttons and girdle gstays were also recovered.

Wood fragments were recovered, which included fragments of finials of furni-
ture, drawer fragments, and many wood chips. Nore of these wood pieces have been
identified as to type of woecd or intended functiomn.

The privy and cistern are but a part of a larger cultural activity area.
Other eclements of this backyard complex include ancother possible privy, a brick
walkway/patio, a possible early drain containing early redware and delft frag-
ments, and two wall structures {FigITI-43). Many of these clements are from
divergent time periods, but zll have been sealed by either historic or recent
landfills. Extensive excavatior should provide a vast amount of data concerning
the historic utilization of urban lots as well as previding insights into the
chianging bechaviors and status of the block and its inhabitarnts.

After drawing and photographing, the entire unit was covered with plastic
and gsand to aid in the protection for the possible mitigation.

Structures on 120 - 122 Market Street werc demolished, and nothing was under-
taken.

Parts of the standing walls of 124, 126, and 128 Market Street arc ot the
eighteenth century, with modifications to the profiles and roof outlinez. We were
unable to see any of ihese ccllars in detail. House 126 Market Street gtill re-
tains ite original eighteenth century roof line whieh includes a dormer window on
the pitched roof., The windows and sash probably have been rerplaced on the second
and third flocr, as they have single panes on top and bottom. The dormer win-
dows are the criginal twelve pane units. '
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The buildings also owned bty Diamond Chemical Co. include 2, 4, 6, and 8
Last Second 3Street, tne buildings located on Parcels No. 302, 301, and 300. All
of thece structures are four or even five stories high, originally they were
threc story high buildings with two and one story additions. On of the cellars
at 6 Jecond Street still has the granite basement walls. The cellars in this
area may still contain unlooted cisterns and privies.

The building at 10 East Second Street is still standing as a two and ore-
half story structure. It is listed on the DOT map az Parcel 29%. This is shown
as a saloon in 1884 and is currently similarly funtioning as a bar.

The structure knovn as 12 Eaat Second Street is also still standing (Parcel
No. 298). This property is a two story structure and the interior and exterior
have not been surveyed.

The next building which was originally two structurcs, one serving as a
saloor ard the other as a store, was located at 14 and 16 East Second Strect (Par-
cels 297 and 296 were combined into an entertaimment-type establishment, Jujo's
Inc. since 1975). There are no existing photographs and the ares has been de-
molished and filled in with sand and gravel. No tests were conducted or these
areas.
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FRONT STREET

Figure I 11-39
SWB FRONT & MARKET PROJECT AREA
BUILDING PLAN VIEW S/W CORNER
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Privy - Feature 2

Plate |11-14
MARKET-=KING BLOCK
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PLATE |11-16
MARKET-KING  PARCELS 188&189
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Feature 2 Feature 3

# of sherds ¥ sherds # of sherds % sherds
Kitchen Group: 1526 813 2532 735
ceramics 810 1372
bottles 596 931
tumblers 119 227
glassware
tableware 1 2
Bones/shell 274/24 293/32
Architecture Group: 224 11.9 835 24.3
window glass 101 771
nails 102 38
spikes 2
const. hardware 19 26
Furniture Group: 1 12 0.3
Arms Group: 76 4.0 2 0.06
gunflints 18 2
musket balls, shot 58
Clothing Group: 13 0.7 40 1.2
buckles 1 9
buttons 11 28
thimbles - 2
bale seals 1 1
Personal Group: 7 0.4 5 0.1
coins 2 1
keys 2
personal items 5 2
Tobacco Pipes: 18 0.9 12 0.3
Activities Group: 11 0.6 5 0.1
const. tools 3
toys 7 1
other 4 1
Misc.
plastic 3 i,
leather 48

Figure: III-46 ARTIFACT CLASSIFICATION (after South 1977) MARKET - KING BLOCK

I11-83




PLATE =17 PORCELAIN
MARKET-KING BLOCK FEATURE 3
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COMBED WARE

TRANSFER PRINTED CREAMWARE

PLATE W-18 MARKET-KING BLOCK, FEATURE 3, CERAMICS
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Conicluding Remnrks

ihe archaeological investigations of urban sites requires the researcher
to be cognizont of numerous details concerning the dynamics of urban growth. The
larger effccts of this growth are found in changes to a c¢ity's fabric. This is
viewed by the archaecligist primarily through the examination of complex struc-
tural foundations or alterations to extant buildings. The changes notcd may be
reflective ol processcs which have had an effect on urban social structures as
well. Archaeclogical examinations must therefore address themselves to the in-
vestigation of both the physical and social environment.

4 variety of specific gquestions should prescnt themselves concerning the
nature of the urban environment. Questions that can be addressed to the struc-
tures themselves include, for example, the historic naturc of the area (what
structures stood here and when?), its changing spatial dimensions (how are things
arranged?), and its comparability to the larger urban context (how docs it differ
from the rest of the city?). The nature of group behavicrs and urban social
structures can be examined through questions concerning consumer behavior and
its relationship to socio-economic status. These guestions can be addressed to
dietary practices (what food was ecaten and what materials were used for its pre-
paration, serving, and consumption?), other consumptive activities (what items
were used, for what activities, and where?), and disposal practices (what and
where items were discarded or lost?). A combination of these questions can be
seen to form the basis from which explanation of cultural processes and under-—
standing of the increasing diversification within the population of an urban con-
text of ethnic group, religious affiliation, occupationzl type, and residential
locality can bec ascertained.

Paved with a magnitude of questions, such as thogse above, the archaeclogist
rust decide what features in the archaeclogical context will provide sufficient
data to answer these and future inguiries. The features that would fulfill, in
some degree, these criteria include buildings and building foundations, undis-
turbed cccupation floors and preserved activity areas, and privy or midden de-
posits. Ideally all such features would be available to examine. However,
urban archaeclogy poses some special problems in this regard due to the frequen-
cy and degree of change related to urban development. An attempt has been made
in the VWilmington Project to explorc these features within the context of a
historically and functional defined sample (sce Introduction, page I-8 ).

The exploration of each block has yielded interesting architectural édata
while revealing the extent of sub-surface disturbances. Certain sites have
shovn the complexity of the changing urban enviromment. Grubb Lumber Co., for
ingtance, has revealed a stratified architectural complex, wnich ranges over a
two hundred year period. The preliminary work here has suggested the richness
of Wilmingtor's architectural record and hinted at the possibility of documen~
ting the changing sense of space and function of the inhabitants of the city.

Zxcavations on the kMarket to King Street block, particularly Parccl 188 and
189, have revealed extant occupztional floors/activity arcas. Such areas would
allow for the in situ examination of "primary refuse". Analysis of such material
may provide soze clues to the ure or function of structural components while
delineating specific behavioral patterns.
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¥inally, although juct lriefly examined, the artifactual materials reco-
vered in the excavation of privy structures, even looted holes, can be seen to
provide valuable information concerning the irhabitants of the blocks along
Front Street. Intensive nnalysis may provide many insights into the nature and
quality of Wilmington 1life through the eighteenth, nineteenth, and {wentieth
centuries. In turn, these insights can be compared and contrasted both within
the city of Wilmington and to other urban contexts on the east coast, possibly
providing valuable knovledge concerning modern man'’s adaspiation to his urtan
environment.

The recognition of the variability and dynamics of urban growth requires the
archaeologict to produce a research strategy which will provide the widest possible
data base for present and future inguiries. All possible depositional activitics
must be tested. Primary refuse disposal provides the clearest picture of dndivi-
dual behaviors and offers clues as to functional activities. Seccondary refusc,
such a2s the privy fill, often allows a broader exeminstion of behaviors ard remli-
ties within a clearly defined temporal context, irrespective of a particular acti-
vity area. Minally, the examination of the structures themselves provides the
needed sense of environment within which individuals have acted and interacted.
Complex and changing cultural processes and behavior are in evidence in all urban
contexts. It is hoped that future excavations will provide sufficient datafor
understanding sueh processes in Wilmington.
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